# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF ABPZ9A2617 DISTRICT 3 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

-		OF WISCONSIN	
STATE OF WISCONSIN,	)		
Plaintiff-Respondent,	)		
ramon rosponacio,	)	A LIV COMA POCACO	
-vs-	)	Appeal No. 2016AP002098	
OMED NINHAM	)		
OMER NINHAM,	)		
Defendant-Appellant.	)		

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Brown County, the Honorable Kendall M. Kelley, Presiding

\_\_\_\_\_

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_

BRYAN STEVENSON Alabama Bar No. 3184N75B ALICIA A. D'ADDARIO Alabama Bar No. 7806A64D Equal Justice Initiative 122 Commerce Street Montgomery, AL 36104 (334) 269-1803 bstevenson@eji.org adaddario@eji.org

ADAM STEVENSON
Wisconsin Bar No. 1066845

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Does the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), that the sentencing court is required "to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison" before imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile, *id.* at 2469, apply to Wisconsin's discretionary sentencing scheme for first degree intentional homicide?

The circuit court answered: no.

2. Did the original sentencing court fail to comply with the requirements of *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), and *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016), when it imposed a sentence of life without parole on a fourteen-year-old?

The circuit court answered: no.

3. Did the circuit court violate *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), and *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016), by purporting to determine that Omer Ninham is so irreparably corrupt that life without parole is justified without providing him with a full resentencing hearing where he could present evidence of his potential for rehabilitation?

The circuit court answered: no.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Omer Ninham respectfully requests oral argument. This is a case of first impression regarding the application of the United States Supreme Court's recent decisions in *Miller v. Alabama*,

132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), and *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016), to Wisconsin's discretionary sentencing scheme for first degree intentional homicide. Given the complexity and significance of this claim, the recent changes in Supreme Court precedent impacting his case, and the potential impact on other cases, appellant believes that oral argument would assist the Court's consideration and adjudication of the issues presented.

Appellant also submits that publication would be appropriate pursuant to Wis. Stat. Ann. § 809.23(1)(a)(1) & (5). Because this case raises issues of first impression regarding the application of *Miller* in Wisconsin, this Court's opinion will likely announce a new rule or clarify existing law. In addition, this Court's decision may impact other juveniles who have received life-without-parole sentences in Wisconsin, and therefore is of substantial and continuing public interest.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

#### Procedural History

Following a four-day trial in the Brown County Circuit Court in September 2000, Omer Ninham was convicted of firstdegree intentional homicide for a tragic crime that took place when he was only fourteen years old. (R. 69:764; R. 82:2.) On June 29, 2000, Omer was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole. In imposing sentence, the judge said he was making his decision based on three factors: the gravity of the offense, the character of the offender, and the need to protect the public. (R. 70:23–24, 26.) The judge "concede[d] for the sake of discussion that Omer Ninham is a child," expressed hope that Omer would change over the course of his life, and sentenced him to lifetime incarceration without any opportunity for parole. (R. 70:24, 28–29.)

Omer filed a motion for post-conviction relief on November 16, 2000 (R. 53), which was denied on March 5, 2001 (R. 58). Omer then appealed to this Court, raising only two issues, both of which related to the trial court's sua sponte excusal of jurors with felony convictions. This Court affirmed Omer's conviction and the denial of his first post-conviction motion on December 4, 2001. *State v. Ninham*, 2002 WI App 34, 250 Wis. 2d 354, 639 N.W.2d 802 (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 4, 2001) (unpublished). The Wisconsin Supreme Court denied his petition for review on February 20, 2002. *State v. Ninham*, 2002 WI 23, 250 Wis. 2d

558, 643 N.W.2d 95.

On October 18, 2007, Omer filed a post-conviction motion for sentencing relief, challenging the constitutionally of imposing life without parole on a fourteen-year-old child under the Eighth and Fourteenth amendments and the United States Supreme Court's then-recent decision in *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005). (R. 76.) The circuit court issued a decision and order denying Omer's motion on April 11, 2008. (R. 82.) On March 3, 2009, this Court affirmed. **State v. Ninham**, 2009 WI App 64, 316 Wis. 2d 776, 767 N.W.2d 326. On September 13, 2010, the Wisconsin Supreme Court granted Omer's petition for review, State v. Ninham, 2010 WI 125, 329 Wis. 2d 371, 791 N.W.2d 380; on May 20, 2011, it affirmed the decision of this Court. *State* v. Ninham, 2011 WI 33, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451. The United States Supreme Court denied Omer's petition for writ of certiorari on June 29, 2012. *Ninham v. Wisconsin*, 133 S. Ct. 59, 183 L. Ed. 2d 711 (2012).

On June 25, 2012, the United States Supreme Court decided *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), which held that the sentencing court is required "to take into account how

children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison" before imposing a life without parole sentence on anyone under the age of 18. *Id.* at 2469. Omer filed a petition for post-conviction relief based on *Miller* on June 18, 2013. (R. 106). In that motion, he argued that his life-without-parole sentence was unconstitutional under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, the Wisconsin Constitution, and Wisconsin law, because the sentencing court refused to treat his youth and its attendant circumstances as mitigating as required by *Miller*. (R. 106)

On January 9, 2016, the circuit court ruled that, if *Miller* applied to Omer's case, then his claim likely would not be procedurally barred, but held the case in abeyance pending a decision by the United States Supreme Court as to whether *Miller* applies retroactively to cases on collateral review. (R. 118.)

On January 25, 2016, the United State Supreme Court issued its opinion in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016), holding that *Miller* applies retroactively because it imposes substantive limits on the power of states to impose

sentences of life without parole sentences on children. The Court held that "Miller . . . bar[red] life without parole . . . for all but the rarest of juvenile offenders, those whose crimes reflect permanent incorrigibility." Id. at 734. On February 8, 2016, Omer filed a Notice of Supplemental Authority regarding Montgomery (R. 119), and on July 6, 2016, he filed an additional Notice of Supplemental Authority citing state supreme court and court of appeals decisions that relied on Montgomery to grant Miller relief to juveniles serving discretionary sentences of life without parole. (R. 123.)

On October 7, 2016, the Brown County Circuit Court denied Omer's third postconviction petition. (R. 124). The court ruled that "Ninham is not entitled to resentencing under *Miller* because his life-without-parole sentence was discretionary, not mandatory." (R. 124:8.) The court went on to rule in the alternative that "the sentencing Court appropriately considered Ninham's youth and related characteristics when imposing this sentence." (R. 124:11.) Finally, the court noted that it would independently reach the conclusion that life without parole was justified in this case. (R. 124:11.) This appeal follows.

#### Factual Background

At age fourteen, Omer Ninham is the youngest person in the State of Wisconsin who has been sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, and among a handful of the youngest children in the country to receive that sentence.<sup>1</sup>

The circuit court previously found it "undisputed that [Omer Ninham] had an extremely difficult and tumultuous childhood." (R. 82:1.) During nearly his entire life prior to his present incarceration, Omer experienced and witnessed chronic violence and instability as a result of his parents' extreme alcoholism. (R. 76:13.) Omer's parents struck each other as well as Omer and his siblings with closed fists and weapons. (R. 76:14.) The police were repeatedly called to the home by neighbors or sometimes the children themselves. (R. 76:14.) Omer's father was repeatedly incarcerated for domestic violence and went to prison for violating a restraining order initiated by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Equal Justice Initiative, <u>Cruel and Unusual: Sentencing 13- and 14-Year-Old Children to Die in Prison</u>, at 20, 32 (2007) (hereinafter "<u>Equal Justice Initiative</u>"), <u>available at http://eji.org/eji/files/ 20071017cruelandunusual.pdf.</u>

Omer's mother. (R. 76:14.) Omer's older brothers were also physically and verbally abusive to him. (R. 76:14.)

Apart from physical violence, Omer's parents provided no parental guidance or support, and their severe alcoholism contributed to their inability to ensure Omer consistently had shelter and other basic necessities. (R. 76:14.) Omer's family moved approximately twenty times during his childhood and at times were homeless. (R. 76:14.) Omer received his first toothbrush from youth shelter employees when he was fourteen. (R. 76:Ex. 1, ¶ 11.)

Omer tried to flee his violent and chaotic environment by repeatedly running away, as did two of his siblings. (R. 76:14.) Omer, who had a strong genetic predisposition for alcoholism, also used alcohol to alleviate his depression, chronic severe stress, and alienation. (R. 76:15.) He experimented with alcohol as early as the fifth grade, and was drinking excessively by the seventh grade, often alone and to the point of unconsciousness. (R. 76:15.) Brown County Human Services Mental Health Center diagnosed Omer's alcohol abuse disorder and suggested, but did not provide, treatment. (R. 76:15.)

At age fourteen, according to the circuit court's findings, Omer was with four other young teenagers when a bullying episode escalated into a tragic assault, resulting in the death of Zong Vang, a thirteen-year-old boy whom Omer and another teen pushed or threw from a parking ramp. (R. 82:2–3.) Brown County Social Services subsequently referred Omer to the Oneida Boys Home because of his family background of abuse and neglect and because he was suffering suicidal thoughts. (R. 76:15.) Omer, who is Native American, made significant progress at the Boys Home, where he was exposed for the first time to positive role models and structure guided by Native American spirituality. However, six months after his arrival, his treatment and progress were cut short when he was arrested for this offense. (R. 76:15.)

Despite having no prior violent record, and based in part on statements made while in pre-trial detention that, for all their adolescent bluster and poor judgment, were unaccompanied by violent acts, Omer Ninham was sentenced to lifelong imprisonment with no possibility of parole. (R. 70:23–29.) Seven years later, at age twenty-three, Omer was examined by a clinical neuropsychologist who concluded that he no longer suffers from

the severe behavioral dyscontrol that dominated his young teenage years, that he does not suffer from psychopathy or any serious psychiatric disorder, and that he has grown into a thoughtful young man whose prognosis for successful re-entry into the community, and absence of recidivism, is very good. (R. 76:24–25.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

The United States Supreme Courts decisions in *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), and *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016), establish that youth matters in determining whether a child can be sentenced to lifetime incarceration, and that such a punishment is unconstitutional in the vast majority of cases where the crime reflects transient immaturity. Because these requirements apply to Wisconsin and were not followed at the original sentencing in this case, Omer Ninham is entitled to a new sentencing hearing.

I. MILLER V. ALABAMA APPLIES TO DISCRETIONARY SENTENCES OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT WITHOUT PAROLE.

In *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), the United States Supreme Court held that, before imposing a sentence of

life without parole on a juvenile, the sentencer is required "to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." **Id.** at 2469. Because the two petitioners before the Court in *Miller* were both sentenced pursuant to mandatory sentencing schemes that prohibited any consideration of their young age or other mitigating circumstances, the Court down those mandatory sentencing schemes unconstitutional. *Id.* at 2475 ("By requiring that all children convicted of homicide receive lifetime incarceration without possibility of parole, regardless of their age and age-related characteristics and the nature of their crimes, the mandatory sentencing schemes before us violate this principle of proportionality, and so the Eighth Amendment's ban on cruel and unusual punishment."). Nevertheless, nothing about the Court's exhortation that "youth matters in determining appropriateness of a lifetime of incarceration without the possibility of parole" was limited only to mandatory sentences. *Id.* at 2465. Thus, as the vast majority of courts to consider this question have concluded, the requirement of *Miller* that the sentencer consider youth and the ways in which it counsels against lifetime incarceration, applies even where, as in this case, the sentence was not mandatory.

In *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016), the Supreme Court further elucidated the universal nature of the principles announced in *Miller*. The Court explained that "*Ielven if a court considers a child's age* before sentencing him or her to a lifetime in prison, that sentence still violates the Eighth Amendment for a child whose crime reflects 'unfortunate yet transient immaturity." *Id.* at 734 (quoting *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2469) (emphasis added). This followed from the fact that, in addition to striking down mandatory life-without-parole sentences for juveniles, *Miller* "bar[red] life without parole . . . for all but the rarest of juvenile offenders, those whose crimes reflect permanent incorrigibility." *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 734.

The vast majority of courts to consider the issue have found that *Miller* applies to discretionary sentences like the one at issue here. First, the Supreme Court has itself applied *Miller* and *Montgomery* to discretionary life-without-parole sentences by sending a number of cases involving discretionary sentences

back to the state courts for reconsideration in light of *Miller* and **Montgomery**. See, e.g., **Arias v. Arizona**, 137 S. Ct. 370 (2016) (granting, vacating, and remanding case in which defendant was given discretionary life-without-parole sentence as juvenile for further consideration in light of *Montgomery*); *DeShaw v*. Arizona, 137 S. Ct. 370 (2016) (same); Purcell v. Arizona, 137 S. Ct. 369 (2016) (same); *Najar v. Arizona*, 137 S. Ct. 369 (2016) (same); *Tatum v. Arizona*, 137 S. Ct. 11, 12 (2016) (same); Blackwell v. California, 133 S. Ct. 837, 184 L. Ed. 2d 646 (2013) (granting, vacating, and remanding case in which defendant was given discretionary life-without-parole sentence as juvenile for further consideration in light of *Miller*); *Mauricio v*. *California*, 133 S. Ct. 524, 184 L. Ed. 2d 335 (2012) (same); Guillen v. California, 133 S. Ct. 69, 183 L. Ed. 2d 708 (2012) (same). Justice Sotomayor, concurring in the remand for five of these cases, specifically noted that the remands were appropriate even though "the judges in these cases considered petitioners' youth during sentencing." *Tatum*, 137 S. Ct. at 12. Following **Montgomery** and **Tatum**, the Supreme Court has made clear that *Miller* unquestionably applies to discretionary sentences of life without parole.

In recognition of this, since *Montgomery*, state supreme courts in Georgia, Florida, Arizona, and New Jersey have found that *Miller* applies to discretionary sentences. In *Veal v. State*, 784 S.E.2d 403 (Ga. 2016), the Georgia Supreme Court reversed a sentence of life without parole imposed on a 17-year-old and remanded for resentencing under *Miller*. The court held that **Miller** applied, even though Georgia's sentencing statute for murder "does not under any circumstance mandate life without parole but gives the sentencing court discretion over the sentence to be imposed after consideration of all the circumstances in a given case, including the age of the offender and the mitigating qualities that accompany youth." Id. at 410. "Had this appeal been decided before *Montgomery*," the court wrote, it might have upheld the trial court's ruling that *Miller* did not apply, but "the explication of Miller by the majority in Montgomery demonstrates that our previous understanding of *Miller* . . . was wrong." *Id.* at 409, 410.

In *Landrum v. State*, 192 So.3d 459 (Fla. 2016), the Florida Supreme Court invalidated a discretionary life-without-

parole sentence imposed for a crime committed when the defendant was 16 years old as unconstitutional under *Miller*, holding that "Miller applies to juvenile offenders whose sentences of life imprisonment without parole were imposed pursuant to a discretionary sentencing scheme when the sentencing court, in exercising that discretion, was not required to, and did not take 'into account how children are different and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Id.* at 460 (quoting *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2469). The court noted that "Montgomery clarified that the *Miller* Court had no intention of limiting its rule of requiring individualized sentencing for juvenile offenders only to mandatorily-imposed sentences of life without parole, when a sentencing court's exercise of discretion was not informed by *Miller*'s considerations." *Id.* at 467. Failing to ensure that sentencing discretion is informed by these considerations, the court wrote, "would mean life sentences for juveniles would not be exceedingly rare, but possibly commonplace." *Id.* 

Similarly, in *State v. Valencia*, 386 P.3d 392 (Ariz. 2016), the Arizona Supreme Court applied *Miller* to two discretionary life-without-parole sentences, reversing the trial court's rejection of defendants' postconviction petitions claiming *Miller* violations. Id. at 393–94, 396. The State had argued "that Miller bars mandatory sentences of life without parole and thus requires only that the sentencing court consider the juvenile's age as a mitigating factor before imposing a natural life sentence." *Id.* at 395. The Court, however, wrote that "Montgomery refutes these arguments by expressly holding that *Miller* reflects a substantive rule and noting, '[e]ven if a court considers a child's age before sentencing him or her to a lifetime in prison, that sentence still violates the Eighth Amendment for a child whose crime reflects yet transient immaturity." Id. unfortunate (quoting *Montgomery*, 135 S. Ct. at 734).

Likewise, in *State v. Zuber*, 152 A.3d 197 (N.J. 2017), the New Jersey Supreme Court consolidated two cases and held that both petitioners were entitled to new sentencing hearings at which "the trial court should consider the *Miller* factors when it determines the length of [the] sentence and whether the counts of convictions should run consecutively." *Id.* at 204, 215–16. Comer, one of the two defendants, had received a discretionary

consecutive aggregate sentence of 75 years with parole eligibility after 68 years and 3 months, for crimes including felony murder. *Id.* at 203–04. The court found this sentence to be "the practical equivalent of life without parole." *Id.* at 201. Concluding "that, before a judge imposes consecutive terms that would result in a lengthy overall term of imprisonment for a juvenile, the court must consider the *Miller* factors," the court remanded both cases for resentencing. *Id.* at 201–02.

Even before *Montgomery*, a number of courts had found that *Miller* applies to discretionary sentences. In *McKinley v. Butler*, 809 F.3d 908 (7th Cir. 2016), the Seventh Circuit held that "[*Miller*'s] concern that courts should consider in sentencing that 'children are different' extends to discretionary life sentences." *Id.* at 914. The Seventh Circuit explicitly rejected the State's argument that *Miller* applied only to *mandatory* statutory schemes under which juveniles are sentenced to life without parole. *Id.* at 911. Rather, the Court stated that the Supreme Court's finding that "children are different" "cannot in logic depend on whether the legislature has made the life sentence discretionary or mandatory; even discretionary life sentences

must be guided by consideration of age-relevant factors." Id.

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