#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-14-2017

### COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2016AP2098

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

OMER NINHAM,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A
POSTCONVICTION MOTION UNDER WIS. STAT.
§ 974.06, ENTERED IN THE BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT
COURT, THE HONORABLE KENDALL M. KELLEY,
PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. A discretionary life sentence without parole imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.014 does not violate the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment as interpreted in *Miller v. Alabama*.
  - A. *Miller v. Alabama* does not apply to a discretionary life-without-parole sentence because Wisconsin law requires individualized sentencing determinations.

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution prohibits cruel and unusual punishment: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." Similarly, article I, section 6 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor shall excessive fines be imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." The Wisconsin Supreme Court has interpreted article I, section 6 in a manner consistent with the

United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Eighth Amendment. See State v. Ninham, 2011 WI 33, ¶ 45, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451.

## 1. The prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment and juvenile life sentences.

In Ninham, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment's cruel and unusual punishment clause did not categorically prohibit a court from exercising its discretion under Wis. Stat. § 973.014 and sentencing a juvenile, 14-years-old or younger, to a life sentence without the possibility of parole. Ninham, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 4. It concluded that Ninham failed to establish that there was a national consensus against sentencing a 14-year-old to life without parole when the crime is an intentional homicide. It also concluded in the exercise of its independent judgment that the punishment was not categorically unconstitutional. Id. Based on the circumstances of his case, the court also decided that Ninham's life-without-parole sentence was not unduly harsh and excessive. Id. ¶ 5.

Following *Ninham*, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishments "forbids a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2469 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court expressly recognized the continued authority of a sentencing court to sentence a juvenile to life without parole when the juvenile's crime reflects "irreparable corruption." *Id.* at 2469 (citation omitted). But before it does so, the sentencing court must "take into account how children are different, and how those

differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Id*.

In *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016), which also involved an automatically imposed life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile for an intentional homicide, the Supreme Court clarified that *Miller* announced a substantive rule of constitutional law and a defendant may benefit from its retroactive application on collateral review. *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 736.

The U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Miller* turned on whether the life sentencing scheme prohibited a sentencing court from sentencing a juvenile to any sentence other than a life sentence without the possibility of parole. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2460, 2475. The Supreme Court reasoned that a statutorily mandated life-without-parole sentencing scheme undermines the "requirement of individualized sentencing for defendants facing the most serious penalties" because such a scheme "prevent[s] the sentencer from taking account of these central considerations" associated with youth. *Id.* at 2460, 2466.

The Supreme Court identified five specific factors that a mandatory life-without-parole sentencing scheme forecloses a sentencing court from considering. First, it precludes consideration of a juvenile's "age and its hallmark features" including "immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences." *Id.* at 2468. Second, "[i]t prevents taking into account the family and home environment that surrounds him—and from which he cannot usually extricate himself—no matter how brutal or dysfunctional." *Id.* Third, "[i]t neglects the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of his participation in the conduct and the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him."

Fourth, "it ignores that he might have been charged and convicted of a lesser offense if not for incompetencies associated with youth—for example, his inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or his incapacity to assist his own attorneys." Id. (citations omitted). Fifth, "mandatory punishment disregards the possibility of rehabilitation even when the circumstances most suggest it." Id.<sup>5</sup>

When a sentencing court has the authority to exercise individualized sentencing discretion in parole eligibility determinations, it may consider these five factors in its sentencing calculus. This is precisely what the Supreme Court intended when it held "that a judge or jury must have the opportunity to consider mitigating circumstances before imposing the harshest possible penalty for juveniles." *Id.* at 2475. A discretionary life sentencing scheme is consistent with *Miller* when it allows a sentencing court to make an individualized sentencing determination and consider the *Miller* factors in mitigation of the harshest available sentence.

2. Neither *Miller* nor *Montgomery* prohibits a sentencing court from imposing a life-without-parole sentence under sec. 973.014(1).

Parole eligibility determinations under sec. 973.014(1) do not violate *Miller* and *Montgomery* because a Wisconsin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Supreme Court's choice of language for each factor—"precludes," "prevents," "neglects," "ignores," and "disregards"—suggests that it was concerned with a statutorily mandatory lifewithout-parole scheme that prohibits a court's consideration of these factors when sentencing a juvenile. *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2468 (2012). In contrast, a sentencing court that engages in an individualized sentencing determination may consider these *Miller* factors when it exercises its discretion.

sentencing court must make an individualized sentencing determination when it exercises its sentencing discretion. "[I]ndividualized sentencing is a cornerstone to Wisconsin's system of indeterminate sentencing." *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 427, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998).

As part of this individualized sentencing responsibility, the supreme court has directed circuit courts to impose sentences that "call for the minimum amount of custody or confinement which is consistent with the protection of the public, the gravity of the offense and the rehabilitative needs of the defendant." *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 276, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971) (citation omitted); *see also State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 23, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. When assessing these primary sentencing factors, courts also consider:

the vicious or aggravated nature of the crime; the past record of criminal offenses; any history of undesirable behavior patterns; the defendant's personality, character and social traits; the results of a presentence investigation; the degree of the defendant's culpability; the defendant's demeanor at trial; the defendant's age, educational background and employment record; the defendant's remorse, repentance and cooperativeness; the defendant's need for rehabilitative control; the right of the public; and the length of pretrial detention.

State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 773–74, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992). These same sentencing principles that require an individualized sentencing determination extend to a circuit court's parole eligibility determination with respect to life sentences imposed under sec. 973.014(1). See Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d at 774.

Thus, sec. 973.014(1)'s discretionary life sentencing scheme differs significantly in several ways from the mandatory life-without-parole sentencing scheme that the Supreme Court invalidated in *Miller*. First, sec. 973.014(1) does not mandate, much less presume, that a circuit court will sentence a juvenile convicted of first-degree intentional homicide to a life-without-parole sentence. The circuit court truly has discretion to choose the parole eligibility date, provided that it is at least 20 years. Id.; Wis. Stat. § 304.06(1)(b); *Borrell*, 167 Wis. 2d at 764. Second, the circuit engage court must in individualized sentencing determinations. See Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2460. Third, when a circuit court exercises its sentencing discretion, it must do so in a manner that calls for the minimum amount of confinement necessary to accomplish a sentence's various purposes. Fourth, when a sentencing court sets parole eligibility, it may consider a variety of factors including the nature of the offense, the offender's age, and age-related characteristics such as a juvenile's education, personality, character and social traits. See Id. at 2475. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d at 774.

Because sec. 973.014(1) provides for the exercise of individualized sentencing discretion, it does not violate *Miller*'s proscription against life-without-parole sentences.

### 3. This Court has already decided that *Ninham* remains good law after *Miller*.

Relying on the supreme court's prior decision in *Ninham* and this Court's decision in *Barbeau*, the circuit court correctly determined that *Miller* did not apply to lifewithout-parole sentences imposed through the exercise of discretion. (R. 124:5–8.) In *Barbeau*, this Court has held that *Ninham* remains good law after *Miller*: "Although *Miller* was

decided after *Ninham*, nothing in *Miller* undercuts our supreme court's holding in *Ninham*." *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 32. This Court further observed that *Miller* builds on the U.S. Supreme Court's analysis in *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005),<sup>6</sup> and *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010).<sup>7</sup> *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 31. The *Ninham* decision extensively discussed *Roper* and *Graham* in rejecting Ninham's prior categorical proportionality challenge to the imposition of a mandatory life sentence. *See Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 30.

Based on its analysis of *Miller*, this Court concluded that what the Supreme Court "found unconstitutional [in *Miller*] was a statutory scheme that mandates a punishment of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for a juvenile convicted of intentional homicide." *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 33.

In contrast, because sec. 973.014(1g)<sup>8</sup> does not mandate a life-without-release sentence and merely provides the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In *Roper*, the Supreme Court held that the "Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments forbid imposition of the death penalty on offenders who were under the age of 18 when their crimes were committed." *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 578 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In *Graham*, the Supreme Court held that "[t]he Constitution prohibits the imposition of a life without parole sentence on a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide." *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 82 (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> While Ninham's case involves setting a parole eligibility date, *Barbeau* concerned a sentencing court's exercise of discretion when it set an extended supervision release date under Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g). *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶¶ 16–17. While parole and extended supervision are legally distinct procedures, the Eighth Amendment analysis remains unchanged.

sentencing court with the discretion to impose such a sentence, it does not violate *Miller's* prohibition against lifewithout-parole sentences. *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 33.9

This Court declined to hold that *Miller*'s prohibition applied to Barbeau because he was not (a) sentenced to a mandatory life sentence and (b) the circuit court's sentencing "discretion was not totally circumscribed." *Id.* ¶ 41. To be sure, Ninham, unlike Barbeau, received a life-without-parole sentence. But, as with Barbeau's case, the circuit court's discretion was not circumscribed when it sentenced Ninham. It exercised its discretion and imposed a life-without-parole sentence, an option available but not mandated under sec. 973.014(1). Because *Miller* is limited to statutorily mandated life-without-parole sentences, it does not apply to Ninham's case.

# 4. Both the *Ninham* decision and *Barbeau* decision bind this Court's resolution of Ninham's current appeal.

Without ever saying so, Ninham is effectively arguing that the supreme court incorrectly decided his case when it held that a life-without-parole sentence imposed under sec. 973.014(1) does not violate the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. Ninham also does not address *Barbeau*, a decision that the circuit court relied on when it denied Ninham's challenge. (R. 124:6.) But if Ninham had, he would probably challenge this Court's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This Court also rejected Barbeau's contention that it was unconstitutional to mandate a minimum, 20-year term of imprisonment for a juvenile who commits first-degree intentional homicide. Barbeau, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶¶ 34–44. This Court also held that Barbeau "failed to show that the current statutory scheme denie[d] him a meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation." Id. ¶¶ 45–49.

statement that "nothing in *Miller* undercuts our supreme court's holding in *Ninham*." *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 32.

The State disagrees that Miller and Montgomery undermine Ninham and Barbeau. But even if Ninham were correct, this Court lacks the authority to "overrule, modify or withdraw language" from prior supreme court decisions or its own decisions. Cook v. Cook, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189-90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). Only the supreme court has the exclusive power to overrule, modify, or withdraw language from prior Wisconsin cases. Zarder v. Humana Ins. Co., 2010 WI 35, ¶ 54, 324 Wis. 2d 325, 782 N.W.2d 682. If this Court believes that Ninham and Barbeau were wrongly decided, it may certify the case to the supreme court. Alternatively, it "may decide the appeal, adhering to a prior case but stating its belief that the prior case[s] [were] wrongly decided." Cook, 208 Wis. 2d at 190. Even if *Miller* and *Montgomery* undermine Wisconsin cases that have rejected Eighth Amendment challenges to life sentences imposed under sec. 973.014, this Court lacks the authority to overrule those cases and should deny Ninham's appeal.

- B. Recent U.S. Supreme Court orders and decisions from other jurisdictions do not demonstrate that *Ninham* and *Barbeau* were wrongly decided and should apply to Ninham's case.
  - 1. Recent Supreme Court orders and remanding granting, vacating following decisions cases in Montgomery Miller and do not undermine Ninham or Barbeau.

Ninham argues that the Supreme Court's recent orders in *Tatum v. Arizona*, 137 S. Ct. 11 (2016), four other Arizona

cases, 10 and three earlier California cases, 11 extended *Miller* and *Montgomery* to discretionary life sentences. (Ninham's Br. 12–14.) Ninham misplaces his reliance on *Tatum* and those other cases. In *Tatum* and the companion Arizona cases, the Supreme Court granted certiorari, vacated, and remanded Tatum's case "for further consideration" in light of *Montgomery*. *Tatum*, 137 S. Ct. at 11. The grant, vacate, and remand (GVR) order provided no additional guidance. Justice Sotomayer wrote a concurrence, which no other justices joined, explaining why the GVR order was appropriate. *Id*. at 13. Justice Alito, joined by Justice Thomas, dissented from the GVR order. *Id*. The dissent observed that *Montgomery* simply held that *Miller* is retroactive and that it was inappropriate to use the GVR to direct the lower courts to reconsider the application of *Miller* in those cases. *Id*.

Based on *Montgomery* and *Tatum*, Ninham boldly asserts that "the Supreme Court has made clear that *Miller* unquestionably applies to discretionary sentences of life without parole." (Ninham's Br. 13–14.) The State disagrees for two reasons.

First, in *Montgomery*, Montgomery received a life sentence without parole imposed automatically upon the jury's guilty verdict. *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 726. The question the Supreme Court decided was whether *Miller* applies retroactively to cases on collateral review.

Arias v. Arizona, 137 S. Ct. 370 (2016); DeShaw v. Arizona, 137 S. Ct. 370 (2016); Purcell v. Arizona, 137 S. Ct. 369 (2016); and Najar v. Arizona, 137 S. Ct. 369 (2016).

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